
 
Chowan County Board of Commissioners 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, March 3, 2025 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason Street 

6:00pm 
 

 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled March 3, 2025. 
 
Present: Chairman Bob Kirby,  Commissioners Larry McLaughlin, Ellis Lawrence, Chris Evans, 
Tray Taylor, Ron Cummings, and Tony Shaffer. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, County Finance Officer Cathy Smith, County 
Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble and Board Clerk Susanne Stallings  

 
Regular Meeting 
Chair Kirby called the regular meeting to order and led in the pledge.   
 
Commissioner Cummings then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda  
Board Clerk Susanne Stallings noted a request to amend the agenda to add item 10a a request for 
a letter of support from the Health Department with regards to House Bill 197. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the agenda as amended.  
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chair Kirby opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Florian Deltgen 2063 Jewels Rd. Columbia, NC provided his written public comment to the 
Board a copy of the written statement is in the meeting file labeled March 3, 2025. Millard Bond 
(Mexico Rd.) asked to allow his 3 minutes of public comment to be added to Mr. Deltgen’s 
speaking time. The Board agreed. Mr. Deltgen provided the Board with his written comments a 
copy is in the meeting file labeled March 3, 2025. Mr. Deltgen provided his educational and 
personal background noting that he was born in Berlin, Germany in 1940 under Nazi rule.  He 
stated he is a legal immigrant and noted he has more family who immigrated to the USA thank 
currently residing in Europe. He stated he wished to give his opinion of the confederate 
monument. He used the existence of George Floyd monuments in the County and noted that 
some people view the monuments as a reminder of police brutality motivated by racism and 
some people view them as glorification of a violent drug criminal.  He stated he was asked if he 
thought George Floyd monuments should be removed and he stated no, because it is a historical 
fact and while there are opposing views there is some virtue and truth to both points of view 



because even drug criminals should not die from police brutality.  He stated that with regards to 
confederate monuments to some the monuments symbolize and indirectly glorify slavery while 
for others the memorialize the fallen soldiers of the Confederate Army who do not have 
identifiable graves (an estimated 130,000 to 156,000).  He stated similar to the George Floyd 
monuments there is some truth to both points of view.  He stated that the reasons for the Civil 
War are debatable and not just wars, as some claim the war was over slavery. He noted that the 
Germans attacked the French three times killing approximately 1.9 million French soldiers (not 
counting civilians). He stated that one could understand if the French hated the Germans and 
would not want to commemorate German soldiers in France however there are 1.1 German 
soldiers buried in France in over 192 cemeteries. He stated that the Germans pay for the cost of 
the cemetery upkeep and likewise the French do the maintenance work. He stated this principle 
that even fallen soldiers of a former enemy should be honored. He stated that if people reject 
monuments for Confederate soldiers because their moral compass was wrong we may also have 
to reject monuments for George Floyd. He stated that he feels that both  types of monuments 
could coexist under the ancient Chinese motto of “Mutual respect”. 
 
Steven Rader of Beaufort County NC provided his public comments. Ron Toppin (Mexico Rd.) 
asked to allow his 3 minutes of public comment to be added to Mr. Rader’s speaking time. The 
Board agreed. Stated he is a descendant of two confederate soldiers that did not own slaves he 
stated they enlisted to protect their home state from danger. He read a quote from George Orwell 
regarding “he who controls the past, controls the future” and “The past was erased, the erasure 
was forgotten, the lie became the truth”. He stated that claims that confederate veterans were 
promoters of white supremacy is a lie. He stated that white supremacy has nothing to do with 
confederate veterans. He stated this was a democratic strategy that came from partisan politics 
for a power play. He stated another misrepresentation of the civil war is that it was about slavery. 
He read quotes from Winston Churchills book “The Great Republic” and he states slavery was a 
minor reason for the war. He quoted William Sherman “slavery is not the cause, but a pretext for 
the war”. He stated that leading generals of the Civil War, such as Grant were slave owners until 
after the war when slavery was abolished. He stated Robert E Lee wrote “slavery is an institution 
of moral and political evil” and stated Robert E Lee freed slaves that he inherited from his father 
in law. He stated that Sherman rented a slave and stated that slavery in the south was “the 
mildest and best regulated system of slavery in the world”. He read another quote from Sherman 
that stated “these two races cannot live in harmony, save as master and slave.  He stated 
Confederate General Stonewall Jackson established a black literacy program with his church. He 
stated there are state laws to protect historic monuments.  He stated that far left extremists have a 
campaign to destroy historic monuments. He suggested that the MOU has protections in the 
document to allow veterans groups to have standing with regards to the monument. 
 
Lisa Laws 211 Heritage Point Dr.  stated she participates in the DAR and the Edenton Women’s 
Club. She stated her comments were not facts but opinions. She stated that Robert E Lee had a 
big beautiful statue in Richmond. She stated Robert E Lee owned at least 289 slaves and he did 
not free them prior to the civil war or during the war. She stated that slaves helped Robert E Lees 
wife on their farm while he was away at war. She stated that she wanted to provide a template for 
compromise as she knew not all groups would be satisfied. She stated the template would 
address the strong feelings on both sides of the issue. A copy of the template is in the meeting 
file labeled March 3, 2025. She stated she has ancestors on both sides of the war and felt the 
template would be helpful. 



 
Bill Paul, Hwy 45 Merry Hill NC, stated he had great grandfathers who fought for the 
confederacy. He stated that the monument downtown represents the dead. He stated that people 
are not allowed to move tombstones and he feels this monument is like that. He stated the 
monument represents history. He stated that it is infuriating to be called a white supremacist. He 
stated his grandmother is ½ minority and requested that the Commissioners ask speakers to 
refrain from using that term. He stated his concern over the removal of the cannons if the 
monument is moved.  He stated that the monument is like a cemetery setting. 
 
Debra Miller 221 Hawthorne Rd. stated that comments from the February joint meeting with 
Town Council. She stated that there were comments at the last meeting about history being 
erased if the monument is removed. She stated that personally she would like to see the 
monument removed because she feels it is a symbol of white supremacy that is being crammed 
down the throat of those who live and visit here. (there was an interruption from the audience) 
She stated that museums and books preserve history.  She stated that this is a way to rid the 
County and Town of this evil.  She stated that the courthouse location is not a solution. She 
stated that she did not see the reason for the creation of a Human Relations Commission. She 
read the Council’s mission statement for the HR Commission.  She stated that the mission was 
unheard. She stated that leaving the statue causes pain and if the Board leaves it and causes pain 
for people. She asked the Board to remove the statue. 
 
Ronnie Smith, 103 Robin Lane stated he was born in Mississippi in the early 50s. He stated he 
has been an Edenton resident for over 33 years. He stated he is a member of move the monument 
coalition. He stated the monument does not represent the best of humanity and does not have a 
place in the community. He stated on behalf of his family and future generations asked the 
Commissioners to remove the monument and denounce hatred in the community. 
 
Rodney Washington, Country Club Drive stated he was there to get an update from the Manager 
and Attorney. He stated at the last meeting he spoke about a neighboring property. He stated he 
was waiting for an update from the Manager on the septic issue.  He asked what had been done. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that the Board does not respond during public comment but he anticipates a 
response later in the agenda or during Timely and Important Matters. 
 
Mr. Washington stated he was still waiting for a letter from the County Attorney and asked when 
could he expect that. 
 
Chair Kirby reminded Mr. Washington that public comment was not a time for question and 
answer and the Board responds later in the meeting. 
 
Lin Bond 667 Virginia Rd.  stated that when this issue came up years ago, his initial reaction was 
to move the monument next to the Courthouse and place it somewhere that honors their sacrifice.  
He stated that the same thing applies to WWII veterans. He stated his uncle was drafted to serve 
the Navy and treat sailors that were injured in the war. He stated that he was later sent to Japan to 
serve the Japanese soldiers for a year. He stated that his uncle was sent to save men who were 
killing American soldiers. He stated he went because he was told to do so. He stated that the 
same applies to Korea, and men were sent who did not want to die and noted 50,000 died there. 



He stated that Vietnam War tore the country apart and another 50,000 died there. He stated that 
he feels that men who made the ultimate sacrifice need to be honored. He stated that he feels the 
monument needs to be transferred to the courthouse. He stated that he feels that the monument 
should be placed on a ballot to allow the people to decide. 
 
Michael Dean 100 Emperor Landing Rd. stated that this memorial is for 47 Chowan County boys 
who did not come back from the war. He stated his family served as indentured servants. He 
stated that three men from Chowan County’s graves were located in New York and were 
recently honored. He stated this is a collective memorial, not to racism, white supremacy or the 
confederacy. He stated it is for 47 boys who died, who he feels did not die so that their rich 
neighbors could keep their slaves. He encouraged people to think about that. 
 
Lisa Laws asked for additional speaking time and suggested a survey be sent out to the public if 
not placed on the ballot. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that Ms. Laws had already spoken. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for any additional public comment, there was none, he then closed the floor. 
 
Consent Agenda  
 

a. Minutes 
Minutes of the February 3, 2025 Regular Meeting. 
 

b. Tax Refunds and Releases 
Bass, H.   $358.02  Billed Twice 

 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Trillium Health Resources Annual Report 
Northern Regional Director Bobbie Lowe presented the Chowan County Annual Report from 
Trillium Health Resources. A copy of the report is in the meeting file labeled March 3, 2025. 
Highlights from the report noted that 46 counties are served by Trillium, a total population of 3.1 
million people.  She noted that 362 members have been served from Chowan County.  275 were 
provided Mental Health Services, 56 for Substance Abuse and I/DD 71 members were served. 
She noted that Commissioner Shaffer was recently appointed to represent Chowan County on the 
Trillium Board.  
 
DSS Budget Transfer 
DSS Director Tyeshia Phelps presented the Board with a request from to amend the DSS Budget 
to cover the costs of skilled nursing placement for two disabled adults that are under the 
guardianship of DSS. She noted the director, in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 108A-103 
makes an evaluation of the case reported, then it shall be determined, according to regulations set 
by the Social Services Commission, whether the individual is financially capable of paying for 
the essential services. If he is, he shall make reimbursement for the costs of providing the needed 
essential services. If it is determined that he is not financially capable of paying for such 



essential services, they shall be provided at no cost to the recipient of the services. (1975, c. 797; 
1981, c. 275, s. 1.)  
 
Ms. Phelps stated that she is the Interim Guardian for two disabled adults who need skilled 
nursing placements. At the time of placement, they are over income and until they qualify for 
Medicaid, the Director is responsible for the cost of care. $8,400 per month and the other is 
$9,090 per month approximate. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if this is a new requirement for DSS. 
 
Ms. Phelps stated that this situation is new for her. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that it is not a new requirement.  She stated this is an issue where the coding 
done at the hospital is prohibitive for the individuals to receive DSS funds to cover the costs of 
care.  
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated this is a unique situation and is a gray area. 
 
Ms. Phelps stated the individuals are over income to be eligible for Medicaid benefits because 
they were not admitted to the hospital. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that it is his understanding that the County is responsible for 
covering the costs of the grey area. 
 
Chair Kirby asked how many people are under the care of DSS. 
 
Ms. Phelps stated currently there are two and possibly a third individual. 
 
Chair Kirby stated his concern that this has not come up for the Commissioners in the past. He 
stated this impacts Chowan County taxpayers and is unacceptable. He noted this is not the fault 
of the DSS director. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated this is something we have to cover. 
 
Ms. Phelps stated that she has a meeting scheduled with the hospital to get a better understanding 
of the issue. She stated that if the individuals were admitted to the hospital for observation then 
the County could determine if there are other funding sources that could be utilized to cover the 
costs of care at a nursing home. She stated these individuals do not have anyone that can care for 
them at home. 
 
Ms. Womble noted that the County’s obligation to provide care to these individuals has not 
changed. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that he hoped meeting with the hospital will prevent this cost to the County in 
the future. 
 



Commissioner Evans noted that it appears there is a reduction from the previous year in the costs 
incurred in foster care. He moved to approve the request as presented. 
 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith noted that the budget amendment for the transfer is $71,000 from 
Foster Care in budget amendment 049 to be transferred between line items. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Confederate Monument Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) Discussion 
The Following was noted on the meeting agenda and notice:  
 
The Board of Commissioners held a joint meeting and public hearing with the Edenton Town 
Council on Monday, February 24, 2025 where the Town presented the County with a new MOU 
for relocation of the Confederate Monument from its present location on Broad Street to property 
owned by Chowan County and located behind the Chowan County Courthouse between the 
Detention Center and Veterans Memorial. The Board decided at the joint meeting to table 
discussion and consideration of the MOU until its March 3, 2025 meeting. 

 
Additionally, the Board of Commissioners and Town Council have since received a letter from 
the Colonel William F. Martin Camp 1521 Sons of Confederate Veterans and the United 
Daughters of the Confederacy, North Carolina Division that was submitted to be part of the 
official record from the joint meeting on February 24, 2025.  A copy of the letter is included in 
the Board packets as FYI. 
 
Chair Kirby opened the floor for discussion. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin referenced page 2 of the draft MOU. He stated that the following 
item #2:  
 

“Upon the date of delivery of the Confederate Monument to its new location on the 
County's grounds at the existing Chowan County Courthouse, the Town will deliver a bill 
of sale or similar document transferring and conveying all right, title and interest the 
Town may have in the Confederate Monument to the County. By accepting the bill of sale 
or similar document the County agrees to keep and maintain the Confederate Monument 
in compliance with all federal and state laws and regulations.” 
 

He stated that he feels 30 days is arbitrary and asked if the number of days to do this should be 
set in the MOU. He stated that there is work to be done and things take time. He stated he felt 30 
days was a constraint. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that he was under the impression that the 30 days could be 
extended to a maximum of 90 days. He stated that he recognizes that there is a process necessary 
to relocate the monument and the base of it.  He stated that the County could put the monument 
in storage while the grounds are prepared. He stated that he felt the courtyard at the jail is a 
potential storage area for the monument while the site is prepared. He stated he would like to 
know if that could be put in the agreement. 
 



Ms. Womble stated that there are two things being discussed. She stated that paragraph 1notes 
that within 30 day of the dismissal. She stated that the general statutes restrict where the 
monument could be relocated and for how long. She stated temporary storage up to 90 days is 
limited in the statutes.  
 
Commissioner Evans asked if both things regarding the timeline should be addressed. 
 
Ms. Womble asked if the timeline for resolving the lawsuit or the relocation of the monument are 
what the Board wishes to address. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he could not make that call. He stated it seems to him that the 
adjudication has to be finalized and the County waits. He stated that once the Court rules, the 
County has 30 days, it does not seem like enough time. 
 
Ms. Womble asked if Commissioner McLaughlin was more concerned about the timeline after 
the final adjudication. She noted that the statute that controls the movement of monument allows 
a maximum of 90 days. She recapped the Board’s options for this evening 
 

- Vote to not engage in the MOU 
- Vote to engage in the MOU as presented 
- Vote to engage in the MOU with changes (Counterproposals to the Town) 
- Table the issue for more time to discuss 

 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he did not like the 30 days.  
 
Ms. Womble stated the MOU states 30 days but the statutes allow up to 90 days from the 
removal and reinstallation of the monument. She stated you can leave it at 30 days, or not extend 
it further than 90 days. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that the people responsible for removing the monument is the Town. He 
stated if they can do it in 30 days, he stated that the County is the recipient. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked if the County sets the timeline of 30 days, it will want to analyze 
the location and setting of the monument. 
 
Mr. Howard stated the Town is responsible for all of the work to relocate the monument. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that if the Town is responsible for the setting and ground work he 
asked if the County is subject to litigation for the placement. 
 
Ms. Womble stated the County is subject to litigation at any time. She stated that paragraph 1 
notes Exhibit A. She asked that the Clerk pull up the Exhibit on the screen that identifies the 
location of the monument. She noted the Town is responsible for the cost of the reinstallation 
and Exhibit A controls the location of the monument placement. 
 
Commissioner Evans asked if the site would require inspections. 
 



Mr. Howard stated that foundation and electrical permits will be needed. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he felt the 30-day concern was resolved. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated the 30 days is not the responsibility of the County but a 
responsibility of the Town. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he was satisfied with that explanation. He referenced the last 
sentence of paragraph 1.  
 

“Monument to include the bronze statute and pedestal, the tripartite carved stone shaft, 
the multi-tiered carved stone base, its existing foundation, surrounding brick square, 
four flagpoles and ground lighting from its present location on South Broad Street, 
relocate same to its new location on property owned by Chowan County and located 
behind the Chowan County Courthouse in the open space between the Chowan County 
Detention Center and the Veterans Memorial as identified by the County on Exhibit A 
hereto (outlined in blue highlight), and re-erect same at its new location in accordance 
with the presentation/placement plan determined by the County.” 

 
He stated that his opinion of the site proposed is different than the current site. He stated a plan 
needs to be in place for excavation. He stated he has not been involved in conversation about 
what it would look like. He stated that he assumes plans and specs will be drawn up and he has 
not seen those plans. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that the Town is responsible to provide a plan and the County can 
give the Town a placement plan. 
 
Mr. Howard stated the County can come up with what they want and will be responsible for the 
cost of anything outside of the current layout. 
 
Ms. Womble stated if the plan is dictated by the County, and the Town has to pay for the plan, 
that is not spelled out in the agreement. She stated if the County doesn’t like what the Town is 
doing. 
 
Chair Kirby read the following: 
 

“the Town, at its expense, will remove the Confederate Monument to include the bronze 
statute and pedestal, the tripartite carved stone shaft, the multi-tiered carved stone base, 
its existing foundation, surrounding brick square, four flagpoles and ground lighting 
from its present location on South Broad Street, relocate same to its new location on 
property owned by Chowan County and located behind the Chowan County Courthouse 
in the open space between the Chowan County Detention Center and the Veterans 
Memorial as identified by the County on Exhibit A hereto (outlined in blue highlight), 
and re-erect same at its new location in accordance with the presentation/placement 
plan determined by the County.” 

 



Ms. Womble stated that the MOU does not state the Town will pay for a plan that is developed 
by the County.  
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated it may need to be clarified the County will give the Town a plan for 
placement of the monument. 
 
Ms. Womble stated the Board can put any sort of rider it would like in the MOU. She stated the 
only terms that are enforceable must be listed in the document. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence stated that his constituents feel the relocation from one public space to 
another public space is a false choice. He stated that his constituents do not want this statue and 
for it to be maintained by the County. He stated that the statue is being moved from one public 
view to another. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that the statutes restrict what local governments can do with monument 
relocation. She read the statute that require the monument to be relocated to a location that is 
within the Town’s jurisdiction, and has to be owned by the local government. She stated that the 
statutes do not allow the County to remove a monument, or relocate it to a cemetery unless it 
originated at that location. She stated that the site must be of similar visibility and access.  
 
Commissioner McLaughlin noted that the box shown on Exhibit A is where the monument will 
go. 
 
Ms. Stallings zoomed in on the image on the screen. 
 
Mr. Howard noted that the Exhibit is not to scale, that he prepared it. 
 
Chair Kirby noted this is the same Exhibit that was approved in the first MOU. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that in discussions of the first MOU, this location was proposed by the 
County to the Town. She stated that the first MOU required a consent order to acknowledge the 
proposed location which meant the plaintiffs agreed to the location for placement of the 
monument.  She stated that this was to indicate the location of where the monument would go. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated that the back of the jail and the Veterans Memorial is a large 
space, he stated he takes issue with where it is proposed. 
 
Commissioner Cummings stated that where the monument is proposed to go now, the jail may 
not be where it is currently in 5 or 10 years. He stated he prefers it be further away from the 
Veterans Memorial because he feels that in the future enhancements are needed for the current 
memorial site. He stated there may need to be memorials for all wars (WWI, WWII, Korea, 
Vietnam and Desert Storm). He stated he would recommend that space be maintained and filled 
in all the way down for a walk down. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated he agreed that space for additional monuments should be 
maintained.  He stated that 47 were fallen, enlisted and he felt that maybe a plaque could be 
erected to name those individuals. 



 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated there is no site plan and he felt Commissioner Cummings has 
a nice vision for the memorial site.  He stated that the Commissioners have not visited the site as 
a group. He stated the land there is sloped and he would like to see drawings with elevations and 
specs. 
 
Commissioner Cummings stated that the MOU has to be considered first the specs are 
determined after the MOU. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated if the MOU is approved with the terms, can the County provide a 
placement plan, and asked if the County has time to go through to address the concerns of 
Commissioner McLaughlin. 
 
Ms. Womble asked if the Board is concerned with the location for placement or the situation of 
the monument. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated he is not concerned with the location in the Exhibit. She stated if 
the Commissioners want to discuss the plan within the footprint of the Exhibit A they can go 
back later. He stated that the concerns can be addressed within the MOU as it is written. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked if Exhibit A needs to be deleted. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that as long as the Board agrees to the footprint in Exhibit A, then it would 
not need to be deleted as long as the placement is within that footprint of Exhibit A. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to delete Exhibit A.  
 
Commissioner Evans asked if this was necessary. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that the location of the monument is a legislative decision for the Board to 
consider. 
 
Mr. Howard noted that the dimensions on the Exhibit A are roughly the same size footprint as 
the current monument footprint on Broad Street. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated that he felt if the Exhibit is removed it would give the County 
more flexibility. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if this is the only recommended modification to the MOU. 
 
Ms. Womble explained the procedure for amending the MOU. She stated that one motion to 
address any and all proposed changes at once or you can vote on each change individually. 
 
Chair Kirby and Commissioner McLaughlin discussed the motion. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated his motion was to delete the verbiage of Exhibit A. He stated 
that the monument has been in its present location for years. 



 
Ms. Womble asked if the motion includes the removal of the attachment and language of Exhibit 
A and asked that the Clerk re-read the motion from Commissioner McLaughlin. She noted that 
the paragraph would remove the language of Exhibit A and the attachment. 
 
Commissioner Taylor asked if Commissioner McLaughlin does not like the location. 
 
Chair Kirby stated it removes the identification of the proposed location. 
 
Ms. Womble stated the monument would go to the location, but not in that specific footprint. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion failed (1-6 Evans, Cummings, Kirby, Taylor, 
Shaffer and Lawrence). 
 
Ms. Womble asked if there are any additional concerns about paragraph 1. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked if the County accepts ownership will the County be liable for 
any lawsuits filed against the Town. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that was correct. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked if the costs for litigation be shared with the Town. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that would need to be a separate paragraph (provision). She stated it would 
be a new term and she stated she had not researched if the County can require the Town to 
contribute towards the costs of litigation. She stated she did not think she could make that 
provision fit in paragraph 1. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he would leave that for later comment. He stated he did not 
have any additional concerns with paragraph 1. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if any Board members wished to make changes to paragraph 1, there were 
none. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated that with regards to paragraph 2: 
 

“Upon the date of delivery of the Confederate Monument to its new location on 
the County's grounds at the existing Chowan County Courthouse, the Town will 
deliver a bill of sale or similar document transferring and conveying all right,  
title and interest the Town may have in the Confederate Monument to the County. 
 

Commissioner McLaughlin asked if this wording protects the Town from sharing future 
litigation cost. 
 
Commissioner Evans stated this is why the Town is getting rid of the monument. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that if the County owns the monument the County would be responsible. 



 
Ms. Womble stated that wording for sharing future costs of litigation that would need to be a 
separate paragraph between 3 and 4. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he has no further concern with paragraph 2. 
 
Commissioner Evans asked if the Town has full rights to give the monument to the County. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that previously the County had reservations about the ownership previously. 
She stated that the plaintiffs in the first lawsuit was for them to consent that the Town owns the 
monument to eliminate claims of ownership. She stated that the consent order is not in place and 
the County and Town have taken the position that it appears the Town owns the monument. She 
stated that this does not prevent another group from claiming ownership of the monument.  
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked if the ownership is disputed in the future, if the County follows the 
statutes about the location of the monument we can move it in good faith. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that based on the best information given to the County at this time, it is 
moving forward in good faith but the answer is not black and white.  
 
Chair Kirby asked if there were any further recommended modifications to paragraph two, there 
were none. He asked if there was any discussion or recommended modifications from the Board 
for paragraph 3, there were none. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he wished to revisit the previous discussion about creation of a 
new paragraph 4. He stated that the County will incur costs with court cases going forward and 
its all taxpayer money. He stated he wanted to look out for County residents. He stated that the 
Town decided to move the monument, not the County and would like to see language for it. He 
asked for assistance from the attorney to word a motion that a paragraph would require the Town 
to pay for ½ of the County’s legal expenses. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that if Commissioner McLaughlin wanted suggested language for the new 
paragraph it would need to be worded “the Town shall reimburse the County for ½ of the 
attorney fees expended in relation to litigation involving this monument”. Ms. Womble discussed 
the language and added additional wording to the Clerk to be included in the draft motion/ 
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked if there are any state funds for the County to use for litigation. 
 
Ms. Womble stated she did not know if there was any funding. She stated the County has 
insurance funds available for legal fees and she thinks it is about $25,000 which will not go very 
far. She stated she was not aware of state funded monies to support local governments in 
litigation. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin noted that the attorney fees are around $400 to $500 per hour. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that her firm is not charging the rates for this. She stated that her firm does 
not handle this type of litigation. She stated she has worked with the assigned attorney by the 



insurance company through the North Carolina Association of County Commissioners and she 
stated her involvement has been to help reduce the costs for the County but does not eliminate 
the expense.  
 
Chair Kirby stated that he respects the justification for the language modification, he stated he 
did not believe the County will come to a consensus with the Town. He stated that the Town has 
been in litigation for 3 years and the County has been involved for 3 months. He stated he felt the 
MOU was reasonable and he felt the County needs to move forward. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he appreciated the comments from the Chair felt the proposed 
language would help protect tax payers from the potential litigation costs. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that he did not feel the County should cower from making 
decisions and following the law by the use of lawfare. 
 
Board Clerk Susanne Stallings read the suggested motion: “To the extent permitted by law, the 
Town shall reimburse the County for ½ of attorney fees expended in relation to litigation 
involving this monument” 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion failed (1-6 Evans, Cummings, Kirby, Taylor, 
Shaffer and Lawrence). 
 
Chair Kirby asked if the Board wished to provide any comments on the original paragraph 4. 
There were no comments from the Board. 
 
Ms. Womble asked if the Board wished to provide any additional changes other than what has 
already been proposed and voted on. 
 
There were none from the Board. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that as long as Counsel feels the County has some flexibility on the 
placement plan within the proposed footprint. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for a motion on the MOU. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer moved that the Commissioners accept the MOU as it is discussed. 
 
Ms. Womble noted that the Town has already approved the MOU, so the motion would be to 
adopt the MOU. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated he would amend his motion to state the motion would be to accept 
the MOU and return it to the Town without comment. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for any discussion, there was none. He stated that at the joint meeting there 
were 23 who commented on the MOU and at tonight’s meeting there were 8 people who 
commented. He sated that he reviewed the comments received at both meetings and asked that 
the record show that the Board has considered all comments. 



 
Ms. Womble asked if all prior discussion has been considered as a part of this motion. 
 
Board members agreed by consensus. The Clerk noted that all Board members agreed and the 
record would reflect this. 
 
Chair Kirby called the question to accept the MOU as proposed.  He asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed (5-2 McLaughlin and Lawrence). 
 
Chair Kirby stated that Christ told us to love one another and that he loves everyone in this room 
whether you agree or disagree. He stated this is one of the few areas that this Board has been 
split on and that he respects all of the Board members and the public opinions. 
 
Ms. Stallings also noted the paragraph on the agenda for the record: 
Additionally, the Board of Commissioners and Town Council have since received a letter from 
the Colonel William F. Martin Camp 1521 Sons of Confederate Veterans and the United 
Daughters of the Confederacy, North Carolina Division that was submitted to be part of the 
official record from the joint meeting on February 24, 2025.  A copy of the letter is included in 
the Board packets as FYI. 
 
Ms. Womble stated this letter was sent to the Town’s attorney to be included in the public 
comment but it arrived after the attorney left to travel to the meeting that evening. 
 



 
 
 
 



 

 
 



 
 
A copy of the signed MOU is in the meeting file labeled March 3, 2025. 
 
Review Officer Appointment Resolution 
The Board will review and consider approval of a resolution that updates the Chowan County 
Review Officers. Chris Elsbree, GIS/Land Records Manager will serve as the primary review 
officer and County Manager and Acting Planning Director Kevin Howard will serve as the 
backup if Mr. Elsbree is unavailable.  
 

RESOLUTION 
 
WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute 47-30.2 requires that the Board of County 
Commissioners in each county, by resolution, designate by name, one or more persons 
experienced in mapping or land records management as Review Officer to review each map or 
plat before it is recorded; and, 
 



WHEREAS, the main purpose of this law is to ensure an expeditious review of plats to 
determine whether they comply with all statutory requirements before they are presented to the 
Register of Deeds for recording; and, 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the appropriate statute, the Chowan County Board of Commissioners, 
has from time to time, adopted resolutions appointing one or more named persons experienced in 
mapping for land records management as Review Officers; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Chowan County Board of Commissioners desires to update, revise and restate 
the persons named as Review Officers; and, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Chowan County Board of Commissioners as 
follows: 
 

l. That the following persons are experienced in mapping and/or land records management, 
and pursuant to NCGS 47-30.2, have been and are hereby appointed as Review Officers 
in Chowan County: 

Chris Elsbree, GIS/Land Records Manager 
Kevin Howard, Chowan County Manager/Acting Planner 

 
2.   Chis Elsbree is to serve as the Review Officer in his role as GIS/Land Records Manager 

and Kevin Howard, Chowan County Manager/Acting Planner is to serve only when Chris 
Elsbree, is unavailable. 

 
3.  All duties as Review Officer will dissolve when employment is terminated. 
 
4.  This resolution shall be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Chowan 

County as soon as practicable after its adoption 
 

Adopted this the 3rd day of March 2025.   
 
Commissioner Taylor moved to approve the resolution as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
MCNC Connectivity Agreement 
Cord Palmer presented the Board with a request for approval of a connectivity service 
subscription agreement with MCNC to provide backup internet services for the County network. 
He stated that the funding is in the current budget and he requests approval of the contract 
subject to the final review and approval of the County Attorney. 
 
Ms. Womble noted that she will not have any substantial changes to recommend but asked that 
she be allowed to review the contract before it is signed. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to approve the contract subject to the final review and approval 
by the County Attorney. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Financial Items 



County Manager Kevin Howard presented the following: 
 
Current Fiscal Year Budget Amendments 
2025-049 

 
 
2025-050 

 
 
2025-051 

IV-E Foster Care (71,000.00)           
State Foster Care 21,000.00             
Public Assistance 50,000.00             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

12-5380-539-16

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

DSS

12-5380-539-17
12-5380-539-99

To amend the budget for DSS to include additional funds for State 
Foster Care and Public Assistance.  This is a transfer between line items 

and no additional funding is being requested.

Construction Costs - GMP 107,817.46          
Contingency (107,817.46)         

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

45-5913-441-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

JAHHS

45-5913-999-00

To amend the budget for JAHHS Replacement Project to include 
Change Orders #12 and #13.  Change Orders were approved by BOCC 

on 02/17/25 and includes using $107,817.46 in Contingency.



 
 
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the budget amendments as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
External Board/Committee Report 
Commissioner Shaffer reported on the Health Department Board meeting and stated that the 
Community Health Assessment was presented. He stated he will coordinate with them to come 
and present the assessment to the Commissioners at a future meeting. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence presented on the COA Board. 
 
Letter of support request from the Health Department with regards to House Bill 197 
Mr. Howard stated that the Health Director asked that the Commissioners send a letter of support 
for HB 179 (monies for communicable disease funds) that changes the way funding is done for 
the Counties. He stated that currently $37,000 is split between 8 counties and the new law will 
divide equally for all counties. He stated he recommends the Board send a letter of support. 
 
Commissioner Cummings moved to send a letter to Senator Sanderson and Representative 
Goodwin. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked what is being asked. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that Chowan is a member of ARHS that covers counties in North East NC. 
He stated that currently they get $37,000 and divide the funds by population between the 8 
counties. He stated that other counties only have one health department and this legislation will 
allow for more equal distribution of the funds from the state to all counties. 

Scrap Tire Tax Distribution - Rev 6,328.33                 
Scrap Tire Tax Distribution - Exp 6,328.33               
White Goods Tax Distribution - Rev 1,702.53                 
White Goods Tax Distribution - Exp 1,702.53               
Electronics Recycling Program - Rev 1,881.83                 
Electronics Recycling Program - Exp 1,881.83               

Balanced 9,912.69                 9,912.69               

Justification:

62-3471-521-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Solid Waste
62-3471-530-00
62-4710-694-00
62-3471-531-00
62-4710-695-00

62-4710-696-00

To amend the 2025 budget for Solid Waste to include Scrap Tire, White 
Goods, and Electronics Recycling tax distributions.



 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard updated the Board on the following: 
 
Mr. Howard stated that court was held in the new courtroom. 
 
Timely and Important Matters 

 
Inspections concern from Rodney Washington 
Ms. Womble stated that this matter came to Planning and Inspections some time ago. She stated 
that initially staff was only aware of one issue but following Mr. Washington’s comments at the 
Board’s February meeting additional concerns. She stated the County is working with the state 
on the concerns that were raised at the meeting. She stated she has not provided a written 
response because she is waiting on a response from the State. She stated she is working 
diligently to provide a response to Mr. Washington regarding his concerns. 
 
2025 Board of Commissioners Retreat 
Ms. Stallings noted that a Board Retreat has been scheduled for March 12, 2025 to be held at the 
Edenton-Chowan Schools Professional Development Center 110 Blades Street Edenton, NC. The 
retreat will be an all-day work session and will begin at 9am. An agenda for the retreat will be 
posted soon. 
 
Board Appointments 
Commissioner Evans asked if persons appointed by the Commissioners serve at the pleasure of 
the Commissioners. 
 
Ms. Stallings stated that as far as she knows the appointees serve at the discretion of the 
Commissioners who make the appointments. 
 
Ms. Womble stated she would recommend the Board review the appointments. 
 
Commissioner Evans asked if the removal of an appointee would need to be discussed in closed 
session. 
 
Ms. Womble stated this could be put as a future agenda item for discussion in the future. 
 
Commissioner Evans asked if the Clerk would provide the Board with a list of all the individuals 
that are appointed by the Commissioners to various Boards and Commissions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ms. Stallings stated she would provide this list to the Board. 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business, Commissioner Shaffer moved that the meeting be adjourned. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 

 

 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 

 


